NORTH HERTFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MEETING HELD IN THE FOUNDATION HOUSE, ICKNIELD WAY, LETCHWORTH GARDEN CITY SG6 1GD ON TUESDAY, 6TH JUNE, 2017 AT 7.30 PM

MINUTES

Present: Councillors Councillor Cathryn Henry (Chairman), Councillor Steve

Hemingway (Vice-Chairman), Clare Billing, John Booth, Bill Davidson, Elizabeth Dennis, Jean Green, Steve Jarvis, Gerald Morris,

Janine Paterson and Frank Radcliffe and Val Shanley (Substitute).

In Attendance:

Councillor Michael Weeks (Task and Finish Group Chairman), Councillor Judi Billing (Task and Finish Group Member), David Scholes (Chief Executive), Norma Atlay (Strategic Director of Finance, Policy and Governance), Rachel Cooper (Controls, Risk and performance Manager), Brendan Sullivan (Scrutiny Officer) and Hilary Dineen

(Committee and Member Services Officer)

Also Present:

At the commencement of the meeting Councillor Lynda Needham and 15

members of the public.

1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ian Albert, Steve Deakin-Davies, Ben Lewis, Michael Muir and Val Shanley.

Having given due notice Councillor Stears-Handscomb advised that he would be substituting for Councillor Ian Albert.

2 MINUTES - 21 MARCH

RESOLVED: That the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 21 March be approved as a true record of the proceedings and be signed by the Chairman.

3 NOTIFICATION OF OTHER BUSINESS

No other business was submitted for consideration by the Committee.

4 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

- (1) The Chairman reminded those present that, in line with Council policy, the meeting would be audio recorded;
- (2) The Chairman informed Members that there was no sound amplification and asked Members to speak loudly and clearly;
- (3) The Chairman drew attention to the item on the agenda front pages regarding Declarations of Interest and reminded Members that, in line with the Code of Conduct, any Declarations of Interest needed to be declared immediately prior to the item in question;

- (4) The Chairman advised that the order of business would be varied as follows:
 - (i) Item 14 Task and Finish Group on the Council's Management of larger Projects would take place immediately after Item 5 Public Participation;
 - (ii) Item 16 Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme would take place immediately prior to Item 8 Presentation by the Chief Executive;
 - (iii) Item 10 Corporate Objectives 2018/23 would take place immediately prior to Item 9 Information Note: Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act.

5 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Task and Finish Group on the Council's Management of Larger Projects

Mr Robin Dartington thanked the Chairman for the opportunity to address the Committee and advised that he was speaking on behalf of Keep Hitchin Special.

Mr Dartington stated that the redevelopment of the Churchgate Area was the largest, longest, most complex, most expensive and least successful development that the Council had ever attempted.

Perceptive Scrutiny by this Committee would be a testing task, which Keep Hitchin Special wished to help with for both the Council's and the community's interests.

When making criticisms, Keep Hitchin Special appreciated that the officer team worked very hard even when they were over-worked.

The community was deeply involved in the initial Planning Brief but was then deliberately excluded by the Council and sat resentfully on the edge waiting for the inevitable collapse of all the Council's hopes.

It was the Overview and Scrutiny Committee's job to investigate what went wrong by delving into history in order to uncover the crucial decisions that dictated the course of events that led to failure to lay a single brick after ten years of planning and spending £1 million, mostly on abortive fees and this would not be an easy task.

Although this was now history it still mattered, as clearly the council still hankered after redeveloping this historic area that was so important to the enduring character of Hitchin as an attractive market town.

A market town meant a place for the community, in the town and in the outlying villages, to come together for all social needs including shopping, the market and socialising.

Community meant people united by a common interest, in this case, the town that was home and people we socialise and talk with. It was questionable whether the Council understood this either in the past or present.

Keep Hitchin Special was one group within the community whose interest was to protect the special qualities of Hitchin as a place in which to live, work and enjoy company in the town centre and regretfully concluded that the Council understood nothing of such community needs and was just not interested. The council kept to itself and was certainly not a part of the local community, viewing us as just customers.

Keep Hitchin Special saw little difference between the failed Simons scheme and the revamped policy in the Local Plan which presented developers with the opportunity to add 4,000 square metres of town centre space, which were Council-speak for more shops.

Developers, like Simons, were motivated solely by profit; they come, build, sell, and go without a care, leaving a chunk of Hitchin under the control of some foreign sovereign fund for the next 125 to 250 years.

The policy did include some enhancements to and protection for historic buildings but noncommercial elements were liable to be suppressed if the council again handed over the lead to a commercial developer.

Keep Hitchin Special believed that the failures ultimately stemmed from the inappropriate management culture within the Council and feared that the past would be repeated, unless the Council came to understand its own shortcomings, that made it inevitable that their sponsored Simons' scheme would fail.

Scrutiny should identify that, in respect of Churchgate, the Council had been:

Arrogant

Never admitting it could possibly be wrong;

Isolationist

Bunkering down in a side street in Letchworth;

Never being seen in Hitchin;

Hitchin Committee being side-lined;

No contact with the community;

Dominating

No interest in ideas except its own#

Negligent

Making decisions without sufficient investigation;

Unprofessional

Not respecting the need for professional training;

Incompetent

Losing control of its objectives:

Failing to deliver.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee could recommend to Cabinet that such mistakes were avoided in future.

Mr Dartington advised that Keep Hitchin Special had analysed the Council's mismanagement and made suggestions on how to strengthen the recommendations in their written submissions that had been circulated to Members and been made available at this meeting and requested that these submissions be included in the record of the meeting

He concluded by stating that there was no gentle way to describe the problems with the Council's conduct over the Churchgate project and that sometimes it was necessary to be severe in order to be kind.

The Chairman thanked Mr Dartington for his presentation.

Mr Bernard Eddleston thanked the Chairman for the opportunity to address the Committee.

He acknowledged that the report was detailed and sound in many aspects, however some of the recommendations were rather weak in areas and proper public scrutiny of these projects would have yielded a stronger report.

Overall Expenditure on Capital projects

This Council had, throughout the past 10 years, overspent by several million pounds on major projects and there have been significant delays. Some projects weren't even delivered. This was a waste of taxpayer's money, which could have been used for other things.

This Council had failed the public and changes were essential not just in procedures but in the overall culture, management and personnel and if this was not done the same mistakes would happen again.

Initial Budgeting.

This was touched on in recommendation 3 but did not go far enough.

A proper business case needed to be made with clear timescales and with a well thought through budget at the outset.

Currently the initial budget was lost in the subsequent paperwork and when an increase was required because of delays or omissions, this became the new budget. As a result projects could always be declared to have been completed within budget since the increased expenditure figure had become the new budget and the old one was largely forgotten. The original budget should be maintained as a reference point, which would help to concentrate minds

Public Participation/Consultation

Very few members of the public knew that Task and Finish Groups existed or that they could attend. This was buried on the Overview and Scrutiny page of the website.

If public participation was wanted, why not publicise on the Council's news and twitter feeds.

The protocol adopted last year for Task and Finish Groups stated that there should be public participation in the workings of the Group. In this review it was only given lip service.

Initially presentations by the public were to be allowed but they were cancelled just before the first meeting. 24 hours before a later meeting a notice was sent out to a few individuals to say that a 3 minute presentation would be allowed but only to comment on recommendations for the future, not the projects being reviewed. This really was an insult.

One recommendation was that public consultation must be improved and Mr Eddleston noted that there was to be a Task and Finish Group regarding this later in the year. This Task and Finish Group should cover not only public consultation, but also public participation.

He queried why the Council and its Officers seemed frightened to involve the public in any meaningful way, as there is a wealth of talent which remained untapped.

In respect of the recommendations contained in the report he made the following comments:

Recommendation 1

The Council needed to be more decisive, but only provided a proper business case was presented with a realistic budget and timescale and after proper and meaningful consultation with the public.

Recommendation 3

Financial information should be presented in a more business-like manner which was comprehensive and not selective. Officer time and costs required to manage and organise the project must be included in the business case.

Recommendation 5

Projects should be properly resourced and for large projects consider bringing in someone from outside. This Council did not have the in-house experience to run complex projects.

Recommendation 8

Project Boards needed substantial modification. Just being flexible was too weak. They should not be dominated by Cabinet Members and Officers, but should also have one or two external representatives with experience in the project being undertaken. There were many members of the public who would give their services. There was no need for a project executive and a project manager. The above changes would make the work of the project board more objective.

Recommendation 9

Consultation with the public had been criticised many times. However it was not just consultation but also participation which must be addressed. It was essential this was tackled in order to regain the trust of the public.

Mr Eddleston suggested an additional recommendation:

"That senior management be more business-like in their approach to proposed projects and be prepared to reject them."

Projects seemed to be put before Cabinet and Council which were not well thought through, however the reports were sufficiently economical with the full facts so as to present an overly optimistic picture.

Unless Executive Members and Councillors had the time, energy and specific expertise to review the proposals in detail they tended to get approved and Councillors subsequently found it more difficult to halt or change the projects when things started to go wrong.

He stated that the Council should use the expertise that was in the Community and asked that this be embraced rather than feared.

The Chairman thanked Mr Eddleston for his presentation.

Mr Mike Clarke thanked the Chairman for the opportunity to address the Committee and advised that he would restrict his comments to the processes he had observed over the past 8 months, having attended two Task & Finish Group meetings as a representative from Hitchin Forum.

He attended the Task and Finish Group meeting in January regarding the Hitchin Swim Centre as he wanted to observe the process of scrutinising and understand how these critical processes were being conducted.

At the meeting the Chairman kindly invited the four of us who did attend to make up to 3 minutes of comments and used the opportunity to question the processes of the Task and Finish Group, and make a brief comment about the Churchgate affair.

Mr Clarke advised that he had previously attended the Task and Finish Group meeting regarding Churchgate in order to participate in the discussions that he believed would be held about that project.

It seemed good that the Council would review its larger projects, and he had hoped to contribute to the debate, having been very involved in the events of 4 years ago.

However the public were prohibited from contributing in that meeting, despite the guidelines stating that external input would be included. The Chairman advised that he had not allowed public input in case too many people wanted to speak despite there being just two or three members of the public at the meeting.

It would have been useful to have seen officers' reports before that meeting, in order to consider and respond to their accounts but this was not to be and we were not invited to comment after the event.

At that Task and Finish Group meeting it was suggested that Members would correspond by email and the report would thus be finalised. This report was only made available to members of the public in the past week, leaving no time to properly consider and respond to it and it was timed for half term week when some of us were away and had other priorities.

Mr Clarke stated that he remained fascinated about a brief negative comment by one of the officers regarding the Churchgate Liaison Forum and was interested to know what different strategy might have been employed to engage the public and the Task and Finish Group did not receive any enlightenment on this and it seemed that no effort had been made to discover what drove 3,000 people to challenge the Council's actions and sign a petition after 8 years of sustained opposition to some of the proposals. It seems that yet another opportunity was lost to bridge the gap and find out how collaboration with the community could best be achieved.

The members of the Task and Finish Group made critical comments in September and these had been included in the final report, but time and opportunity had not been provided to include the wider public in a true debate.

There were other details from the reports about Churchgate which bore further scrutiny such as the decision to expand the development site from 3 to 5 areas and the apparent failure to heed the changing retail climate, which seemed to have persisted in the Local Plan expectation that now even more shops were needed. It seemed that the Council paid more heed to the propaganda from Simons and retail consultants than the well informed community, including its elected Councillors.

Mr Clarke concluded by stating that he was pleased to see that the Task and Finish Group took a constructively critical approach to the reports, but the Council needed to do much better in engaging the community, particularly with a complex project which affected so much of the town and so many people and doing this might even help in the Council's efforts to run successful projects therefore recommendation 9 was fully supported.

The Chairman thanked Mr Clarke for his presentation.

Mr David Leal-Bennett thanked the Chairman for the opportunity to address the Committee and advised that he had read the 40 page Task and Finish Group report that was highly critical of NHDC and its leadership and thanked all those involved.

Mr Leal-Bennett informed Members that he wished to add his fullest support to the recommendations within the report and would explain some of his reasons and suggest an additional recommendation relating to the usage, monitoring and approach of using the Prince II process and strongly encouraged Members to support the recommendations in the Task and Finish Group report.

The report covered many projects, some major, one minor and some historic, but throughout it was clear that lessons had not been learnt. It was refreshing to see such openness and honesty with the information presented. Hopefully the recommendations, when adopted, would assist in improving matters.

In spite of the criticism, some officers still maintained that there were staff with sufficient expertise to run major projects, which he could not agree with and the evidence was before the Committee and reflected in Recommendation 5.

It was sad that, when officers want to do things their way, they could present a very compelling story, often without financial detail.

The Leader of the Council had stated that officers run the council, perhaps this was why we were in this situation with failed projects.

Officers should carry out the wishes of the elected members and if they didn't then they must be taken to task.

It was the responsibility of councillors, and more importantly the Leader and Cabinet to robustly question and analyse reports, which were often biased towards officers' views.

It was essential that financial information was set out clearly, so that it was understood however this was not done for many of the projects in this report as reflected in Recommendation 3.

The appointment of Members to Project Boards by a Leader, who had no commercial experience, had, to date, proven to be disastrous. They require a balanced composition and currently did not have the breadth of experience required.

For the benefit of future projects, it was important that NHDC involved professionals, and from outside, paying them if necessary. This was reflected in Recommendation 8.

Mr Leal-Bennett drew attention to three projects as follows:

District Council Offices (DCO)

The report did not mention the purchase process costing £3.6 million, which, when added to the refurbishment work, took the project cost to over £9.2 million.

Officers did not look in detail at alternatives such as lease extension, new build, or moving to another building.

At the time he had a debate about this with the then Head of Finance, Performance and Asset Management, who refused to undertake a detailed analysis of the options and did not know what a Discounted Cash Flow was, an essential tool for comparing options, neither was the Leader interested.

In the event the price paid was substantially greater by almost £2 million than the internal valuation.

Recommendations 6 and 7 addressed these issues.

Swim & Leisure Complexes

Both of these had been pioneered as Invest to Save projects, which they were not; this seemed to be a phrase used to justify capital spend no matter what. There was never any detailed financial analysis or objectives regarding these projects.

The relationship with Stevenage Leisure Limited was far too close and the financials on leisure had never been scrutinised in any detail.

In a profit sharing arrangement costs could easily be hidden, a turnover base for a return was much more meaningful.

Councillor Morris was absolutely correct with the points he raised in paragraph 6.17 of the report.

These issues were addressed by Recommendation 6.

Churchgate

This project had been a disaster, and it was clear that the Project Leader was out of their depth and did not know when to say enough was enough.

Under a Full Council resolution the Chairman of Hitchin Committee was nominated as a member of this Project Board, not a named individual, yet he, as the person holding that post, was refused permission to sit on the board. This rejection was bizarre, especially in view of his background in Project Finance. He stated that he just might have been able to add some value. As it was, officers were either directed not to continue or did not wish to.

This Project required real leadership and knowledge, but at every stage reasons had been found not to proceed or delay. The current leaseholders had a plan but were now totally frustrated. There was still time to salvage a deal if there was a will, but it would need new leadership and vigour.

Recommendations 7 and 10 addressed these issues.

Prince II

Conclusions concerning this aspect seemed to be missing from the report, there was no documentary evidence that a Prince II process had been undertaken with projects and neither was there any evidence that, under Prince II, an intelligent approach had been adopted.

Mr Leal-Bennett advised that he had personal experience with Prince II with NHDC, and had gone to great lengths to understand how it was being implemented and concluded that, in short, it was not. This was made very clear at a meeting where the Leader was present, and an experienced Fellow of the Royal Society of Surveyors, FRICS gave examples of its misuse by your senior officer Mr Robinson.

When pressed on the detail of Prince II usage, Mr Robinson stated that it was Prince II, as amended by NHDC. This meant that there was not a collaborative approach, since he made all the decisions and refused to correct minutes where issues had been raised.

Mr Leal-Bennett requested that an additional recommendation be made regarding Prince II which dealt with its usage, monitoring and an intelligent approach, rather than just a process driven by officers.

He concluded by stating that it was most important that any recommendations were taken on board by Cabinet and the Leadership. Paying lip service was not an option, which was all too often the case. There needed to be some real leadership on Churchgate to drive through a sensible deal for Hitchin and North Herts.

The Chairman thanked Mr Leal-Bennett for his presentation.

The Chairman referred to submissions made to Members of the Committee by Keep Hitchin Special and advised that the Chief Executive wished to address some factual inaccuracies contained in them.

The Chief Executive explained that he wished to clarify some factual inaccuracies contained in the submissions from Keep Hitchin Special in order to prevent misunderstandings now or in the future.

In respect of the Churchgate project, Eversheds provided advice regarding the competitive dialogue process and that it should be followed by the Council in light of the Roanne case, which effectively set a new context in European law regarding how local authority procured projects.

Reference had been made to the Dorset scheme, which was also undertaken by Simons. It was important to note that this scheme was procured in the pre-Roanne period and therefore was under very different circumstances in terms of procurement. This project was also prior to the economic recession.

The Dorset scheme suffered very greatly in its first phase and the second phase was not taken forward for the reasons already mentioned.

In respect of process followed for the Churchgate project, when the contract was awarded in 2010, it was full Council that amended the recommendations of officers, by a proposal from the then Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, that the Leader of the Council be the Chair of the Project Board. This was quite exceptional, but was suggested due to the high profile of the project.

In terms of the progression of this project, the full Council meeting mentioned above set out the approach, framework and project initiation documents and it was these documents that officers and the Project Board worked to throughout the progression of the project.

It was the developer's responsibility to drive the project forward and bring their expertise to bear.

In the early days of the project Keep Hitchin Special raised a number of questions regarding project governance and specialisms and those were dealt with at that time and the Council satisfied itself that it had appropriate skills, both internal and external, to deal with the project as determined.

Reference was made in the submissions to RIBA, this was the industry standard scheme.

He reminded Members that at the point that the developers were appointed, there was no settled scheme, it was for the developer to work up a scheme, in consultation with local traders and the market whilst bearing in mind the financial viability of the scheme in the financial market of that time.

In respect of skills and experience, the Council examined what it considered was necessary and put in place those skills. Where there were gaps in officers' skills and expertise it brought in external consulants both legal and procurement professionals.

In respect of the amount spent on the Churchgate project, the Strategic Director of Finance, Police and Governance reiterated that at least half of the £1 million expenditure would gave been spent anyway as it was funding for the Town Centre Strategy and the planning brief work, that the Council had committed to undertake.

The Council brought in experts, which cost £500,000, and it was from that that the next stage of the project was developed and therefore it was wrong to state that the spend was £1 million was spent on Churchgate as over half of that was spent getting to the point of deciding what to do with the town centre.

The budgets were changed as projects progressed, however the budgets were scrutinised carefully when they were first brought forward. Some other councils and private companies set a budget and then add ten percent and add a further ten percent for contingencies. However this Council had taken the view that they would set a base budget and, if this needed to be increased that figure would be taken as the budget.

6 URGENT/GENERAL EXCEPTION ITEMS

No urgent or general exception items were received.

7 CALLED-IN ITEMS

Since the last meeting, no decisions had been called-in by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

8 PRESENTATION BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

This presentation was given during the debate on the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme (Minute 16 refers).

The Chief Executive advised that the starting place for any Overview and Scrutiny and the cascade of documents was the Corporate Vision to make North Hertfordshire a vibrant place for people to live, work and prosper, which was created by the Council and its partners and had been a long held corner stone for the way that the Corporate Plan and objectives were dealt with.

The Corporate Plan normally lasted for five years, this document started to focus in on what the objectives would be for that period. The objectives were reviewed annually and had been amended during the period of the Plan, although not in any major way.

In the past the Corporate Plan had tended to focus on large projects and key long tdeliverables, rather than the business as usual activities that the Council undertook. The projects mentioned in the Plan tended to be the things that people could see happening and those for which the Council had key performance indicators.

It may be that future Corporate Plans included more business as usual work undertaken by the Council, whilst considering the capacity and funding of the organisation.

Service Plans linked in with the Corporate Plan, by identifying which Corporate Objective was being addressed for each action in the Action Plan. If actions were not one of the Corporate Objectives, then it should not be undertaken.

A Member asked whether this happened in Service Plans.

The Chief Executive confirmed that it did. It could be argued that, if objectives were broad enough then anything could be made to fit in with it, however when setting objectives it was a balance between setting snappy objectives that people could identify with and looking at what local authorities do and carrying that forward.

The Action Plans included in the Service Plans generally identified things that were up coming regarding projects or service areas, ongoing work being undertaken in order to deliver something within a particular year or the point that had been reached for something to be delivered in future years. Additionally the Action Plans captured all the business as usual items and identified what the Council would be doing, the quantum associated with that task and any performance targets.

Actions with associated performance targets and progress against key projects were then reported to this and other Committees on a quarterly basis and these reports showed any areas of concern, which meant that there were checks and balances in the monitoring systems.

Service Plans gave some measures regarding the scope of the service, resourcing, service activities and priorities. In some service areas there was a balance between statutory service delivery and discretionary elements, it should be noted that it tended to be the discretionary elements that people liked to see.

The Service Plans also gave a performance profile by looking at the previous year's performance, how would things be done for the forthcoming year and looked at public perception of the service to see if there were any issues that needed to be addressed.

This was also linked in with any external reviews, audits, public consultations, reviews of decisions.

Also included was a more detailed analysis such as a SWOT analysis, detailed Action Plans, capture of all risks which linked back to Covalent and an Assurance Statement for each service area.

9 INFORMATION NOTE - REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT

The Committee received an information note entitled Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act.

10 CORPORATE OBJECTIVES 2018/23

Members noted that the objectives in the Corporate Plan remained the same as the previous year.

RESOLVED: That the recommendations contained in the report entitled Corporate Objectives for 2018/23 be supported.

REASON FOR DECISION: To enable the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to comment on the report entitle Corporate Objectives for 2018/23 prior to consideration by Cabinet.

11 YEAR END PERFORMANCE INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT 2016/17

The Controls, Risk and Performance Manager presented the report entitled Year End Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 2016/17 and drew attention to the three amber indicators as follows:

BV8 – Percentage of Invoices Paid on Time

This had been reported as amber for some time and was due to 36 invoices out of 5,370 not being paid within time.

<u>BV12a – Working Days Lost due to Short Term Sickness Absence per FTE Employee</u> This had been reported as amber for some time. The sickness levels remained above what was expected, but had reduced significantly since the levels seen some years ago.

The Chief Executive advised Members that, whilst the target had not been achieved, on terms of performance, the Council remained in the top quartile and had very low levels of sickness.

Members asked that benchmarking data regarding this indicator be included in the report in future.

NI192 – Percentage of Household Waste sent for Reuse, Recycling and Composting
This remained slightly under target, although the LG Inform Benchmarking Data showed that
the Council was 6th out of 51 nationally.

RESOLVED:

- (1) That the report entitled Year End Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 2016/17 be noted;
- (2) That the Controls, Risk and Performance Manager be requested to include benchmarking data in respect of sickness absence in all future reports.

REASON FOR DECISION: To enable the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to monitor performance against targets.

12 4TH QUARTER MONITORING REPORT ON KEY PROJECTS FOR 2016/17

The Controls, Risk and Performance Manager presented the report of the Head of Finance, Performance and Asset Management entitled 4th Quarter Monitoring Report on Key Projects for 2016/17 and drew attention to the following:

Relevant Considerations

The requests made by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee had all been incorporated into this report.

Delivering Identified Projects from the Adopted Green Space Strategy

There were three milestones marked as red and they were all due to lack of funding.

The Council was either seeking Section 106 funding or looking for other sources of funding to complete these projects.

Redeveloping and Improving the North Herts Leisure Centre

There had been a delay in this project although a large amount of work had been completed including the changing rooms and sports hall and other work were progressing well.

Complete the Fit Out and Open the North Hertfordshire Museum and Community Facility The fit out of the museum was nearing completion on the land owned by the Council and the project team were working with the contractors to finalise a programme to complete the work

on 14/15 Brand Street once this had been purchased by the Council.

Members queried whether this should be marked as amber as this is so far behind schedule, with little information forthcoming about what is happening.

The Chief Executive advised that Cabinet had received a report in March which set out the context of the current situation and assured Members that Officers were expending every effort but there was nothing that the Council could do to move this forward more quickly.

The contract for the museum was awarded on a partial basis and the fit out was in the final stages of everything that could be done on Council owned land.

Discussions were taking place regarding the opening of the museum at the earliest opportunity, whether or not the issues with 14/15 Brand Street had been resolved.

Members were concerned that there was insufficient detail in the paperwork, they understood that some areas were covered by commercial sensitivities, but felt that Members should be made aware that the reasons for a particular lack of information was for this reason.

Renewing our Waste and Street Cleansing Contract

The current project plan showed slippage to the original milestones. This would not affect the contract commencement date which remained as May 2018; however, the amendments may have implications for the contract award date and encroach into the contract mobilisation period post tender award.

Exploring Further the Potential for Development of a Crematorium in North Hertfordshire

A Member commented that outline planning permission should be sought as soon as possible as it was likely that housing developments would be built near the proposed site.

Other Issues

Members asked whether, on larger projects, details such as whether Prince II had been utilised could be recorded on this report.

The Controls, Risk and Performance Manager advised that, if Prince II documentation was produced, it could be recorded in future reports.

Members queried whether staffing levels were having an impact on ongoing and future projects.

The Chief Executive advised that by and large staffing levels did not have am impact on projects that were ongoing, although he was very mindful of this and balancing the aspirations of the Council with the resources available. The amount of staff time required for a project could be estimated however, based on experience with Churchgate and Hitchin Town Hall, these estimates could easily be increased two or three fold.

RESOLVED:

- (1) That the report entitled 4th Quarter Monitoring Report on Key Projects for 2016/17 be noted:
- (2) That the Controls, Risk and Performance Manager be requested to include a record of any Prince II documentation produced for projects in all future reports.

REASON FOR DECISION: To enable the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to monitor delivery of key projects against targets.

13 MEMBERS' QUESTIONS

No questions had been submitted.

14 TASK AND FINISH GROUP ON THE COUNCIL'S MANAGEMENT OF LARGER PROJECTS

Prior to consideration of this item, the Chairman drew attention to the second submission from Keep Hitchin Special that had been made available to Members at this meeting. She noted that it contained some additional suggestions regarding recommendations and gave Members time to read this document.

Councillor Michael Weeks, Chairman of the Task and Finish Group on the Council's Management of Larger Projects, presented the report of that Group.

Councillor Weeks thanked those who had assisted and taken part in the Task and Finish Group.

Seven reviews were carried out over a four month period being one major regeneration project, one initiative to collaborate with other district councils in Hertfordshire, one internal reconstruction scheme, two public facility enhancements and two town centre enhancements.

The content of the report was supported unanimously by all members of the group.

The Task and Finish Group was not intended to be an enquiry body looking to criticise past projects, nor was it intended to be a scrutiny exercise. Instead it was an exercise to see what the Council could learn from its past projects.

It would appear that the four public speakers aimed to criticise the Churchgate project, using the Task and Finish Group as a vehicle to do so. This sort of criticism was not part of the Task and Finish Group brief and it was primarily for this reason that public participation was refused during the early stages of the review, when considering Churchgate.

Councillor Weeks explained that in reviewing these projects the Task and Finish Groups aim was to identify aspects that should be avoided in future projects.

He then summarised the reviews undertaken for each project and explained the evidence and reasoning behind each recommendation, as detailed in the report.

Points of Clarification

Prior to Councillor Weeks guiding the Members through the recommendations of the Task and Finish Group several points of clarification were raised.

A Member queried whether that Task and Finish Group had asked for any evidence that the Prince II process had been followed, when used on projects.

The Scrutiny Officer advised that there were very detailed documents regarding the Churchgate project, but for most of the projects there was little evidence produced regarding the use of Prince II. An officer had commented that they had used Prince II appropriately, but there was no need to use all aspects and therefore used what was useful and did not use aspects that were bureaucratic or deemed as unnecessary.

A Member asked for clarification regarding whether the Overview and Scrutiny Committee could amend the recommendations of the Task and Finish Group if it so wished.

The Chairman confirmed that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee could amend recommendations of Task and Finish Groups.

The Chief Executive advised that one option was for the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to ask the Task and Finish Group to reconvene in order to consider any comments and reformulate its recommendations.

Councillor Weeks informed Members that the recommendations made by the Task and Finish Group were as follows:

Recommendation 1

The Council needs to be more decisive about what it wants from larger projects and once it decides, it needs to get on with them.

The Task and Finish Group considered the effect of the economic downturn during the course of the Churchgate project and the delays in making a decision regarding the outcomes for the Council Office refurbishment, both of which had resulted in increased costs. They concluded that, once a decision had been taken, projects should be progressed as soon as possible as delays only served to increase costs. The Council should also be aware of the wider picture and act accordingly including ceasing a project if necessary.

Members acknowledged that that there could be a perceived conflict between the need to progress projects and the need for consultation, however these were and should be different stages. The Council should consult and then make a decision based on the consultation.

Just because the Council consulted on something, did not mean that everyone would get what they wanted, particularly in areas where different sections of the community want different things.

It was for the Council to make a decision about how to deal with outcomes of consultation, but having made a decision, they must be clear and realistic about its objectives and not delay.

A Member commented that it was important to get on with a project, but the Council must be aware of any potential issues such as Judicial Reviews and not just plough on regardless. It was equally important not to be over cautious and stop work on a project because of the slightest threat to it.

It was important for the Council to know when to stop a project.

Members suggested that the recommendation be amended to reflect the need to move forward with a project, following meaningful consultation, and the need to assess risks and recognise when a project should be stopped.

Recommendation 2

The Council should not introduce unnecessary complexity into its tenders because it is unclear about its preferred outcome. It should decide what it wants and then tender for it.

The Task and Finish Group noted that, in respect of the District Council Office Refurbishment, the uncertainty regarding the finished outcome resulted in a complex tender, which received no bidders. They concluded that outcomes should be clear about what it wanted, which could then be reflected in the tender documents.

Members queried whether this was a systematic issue or reflected the experience with one project.

Councillor Weeks advised that this recommendation resulted mainly from the evidence regarding Churchgate.

The Strategic Director of Finance, Policy and Governance advised that, in respect of the Office Accommodation project the Council had identified a base scheme and then there were a number of options that were around affordability.

In respect of Churchgate the Council provided a planning brief that formed that basis of the Competitive Dialogue Tender. This was sent out to the bidders asking them to come forward with their schemes.

The Council made clear that there was not the expertise in-house and called on the expertise of the development industry.

It was a requirement of the Competitive Dialogue process that details were kept confidential as the process progressed which meant that the Council was not in a position to explain to the public what was happening until the end of the process.

The winning bid was about demonstrating that the bidder had the capacity and capability to develop the project, the idea submitted was not the actual scheme.

It was then moved on to consultation with the public to develop a planning application.

There was some confusion regarding the fact that the initial scheme was purely about what Simons was capable of.

Members commented that giving too many options for projects increased the costs for those tendering and possibly increased the quotations for each aspect as different choices from a pick and mix scheme could result in greater costs for the contractor. The Council needed to be clear about what it wanted.

Members queried whether this recommendation applied to only one project and therefore should be clarified as such, or whether this was something that should be applied generally and maybe be re-worded.

As a point of clarification the recommendation should be to be clearer about its tender invitations and then put it out to tender.

Recommendation 3

The Council's financial information should be comprehensive and presented in the form of accounts so the extent of profits and losses can be easily understood.

The Task and Finish Group considered that it was important that financial information be more comprehensive and that, if presented in the form of accounts, supported by graphs, the extent of profit and loss for each project would be easily understood.

Members agreed with this recommendation.

Recommendation 4

When exception reports are produced by project boards, they should be circulated to all members of Council through the Members' Information Service or by e mail.

The Task and Finish Group considered that all Members should have been kept appraised of the progress of and financial issues with projects on a regular basis, which could be achieved by circulating the exception reports that were produced for the project board, to all Members.

Members agreed with this recommendation.

Recommendation 5

Projects are constrained by the resources that the Council has available. Planning a substantial project on the basis that part of it will be done in a member of staff's spare time allows no contingency. The Council should ensure that large projects are properly resourced.

Members acknowledged that officer's often took on these projects in addition to their normal work load and commented that it was unsurprising that absence targets were missed and that stress levels for officers were increased.

It was clear that the Council did not always have the resources available for projects and it was important that when this occurred it was recognised and decisions regarding how to deal with the lack of resources were taken rather than muddling through.

Recommendation 6

The Council needs to have clear, documented objectives before it embarks on projects.

The Task and Finish Group considered that the method used in the Churchgate project of initially setting out very broad objectives, which would be honed by a developer into a specific project and the variety of options given for the refurbishment of the District Council Offices were unsuccessful. They agreed that the Council needed to have clear and documented objectives at an early stage, certainly before embarking on the project.

A Member commented that, in respect of Churchgate, the groups in Hitchin engaged with the Churchgate Liaison Forum and that the consultations that took place were not a sham exercise, as had been claimed. He praised the contributions made by Simons and officers. However, as the project progressed the public of Hitchin had lost total confidence in the Council to be able to produce an acceptable project. The public had lost all trust for the Council and this was not only as a result of the Competitive Dialogue Process, but also due to an earlier draft proposal, which lead to demonstrations. This history meant that recommendations 6, 7 and 9 were so important.

The Strategic Director of Finance Policy and Governance confirmed that the role of the liaison forum was to consult with the public. The Competitive Dialogue Process had been used to identify a developer, and with hindsight the scheme that Simons had presented to demonstrate their capabilities should not have been put into the public arena as this was misinterpreted as the actual scheme that would be developed. The Liaison Forum's role was to meet the developer, speak to the public, challenge and come forward with a planning submission, but this role got lost and the project never got to the stage of a planning application.

Members agreed with this recommendation.

Recommendation 7

Large scale projects should have a champion to drive them forwards.

The Task and Finish Group agreed that better leadership may have helped many of the projects and that this could be addressed by having a champion to oversee all aspects of a project and drive it forward.

A Member queried whether a Champion was needed and/or beneficial for every project.

The Chief Executive advised that this recommendation could work for all projects, as long as it was interpreted in the right way. It would be necessary to identify what the sensitive issues were in order to address them and user membership on project boards was an attempt to address this issue.

Members commented that a champion could take different forms, it could be a team or an individual and therefore the recommendation did not need amending.

They felt that the appointment of a champion to a project would ensure that the other recommendations were carried through as this would be part of their remit. The champion on large projects should not be an additional duty for an officer, it should be a dedicated person.

Recommendation 8

The Council should be more flexible about membership of project boards

The Task and Finish Group concluded that Project Boards should not predominantly be made up of local Members, but should instead have a membership that was spread across the spectrum of all Councillors.

Members agreed with this recommendation.

Recommendation 9

The Council should improve its consultation and engagement with the public.

The Task and Finish Group concluded that the Council was not the best at communicating. It was acknowledged that communication had been difficult with Churchgate, given the nature and the number of factions involved and that consultation and engagement regarding the Royston Town Centre enhancement was more successful. However the Council needed to improve in this area and the Group noted that the engagement of a consultant designer with extensive public engagement experience had paid dividends during the Baldock Town Centre enhancement and that this had probably been the best investment of the project.

Following some debate it was suggested that the recommendation be amended to reflect that the Council should not embark on a project unless they were confident that proper and meaningful consultation had been undertaken, but it was important to continue to engage with the public at stages throughout project.

Recommendation 10

The Council should not use the Competitive Dialogue process in future projects.

The Task and Finish Group concluded that this process, with its secrecy aspects, was not suitable for use in the Churchgate project. It was not the best method for use by the Council for any project and was said to be unpopular for developers.

A Member asked whether there were any circumstances in which the Competitive Dialogue Process may be the best method to use and, if this was not to be used, what would take its place.

The Strategic Director of Finance, Performance and Governance advised that the Competitive Dialogue Process could work for specific projects and that Members should be clear that that they were not stopping something that may work in another circumstance or setting.

The Competitive Dialogue Process was unpopular because of the required confidentiality, however Hertfordshire County Council used the process when appointing Joint Venture Partners and it was deemed as the most appropriate process to use in that circumstance.

Members were concerned that this recommendation would prevent use of the Competitive Dialogue Process completely when there may well be circumstances when this process was the most appropriate to use. However this process should be used with caution and not used on highly sensitive and visible projects.

It was suggested that the recommendation be amended to ensure that its use was not excluded, but that it was used appropriately and not on highly sensitive and visible projects.

Councillor Weeks expressed concern that the recommendations of the well considered Task and Finish Group may be amended. He felt that the Group had received the evidence and that the recommendations were sound and should not be amended too much.

The Chairman requested that the Task and Finish Group consider whether the documents from the public participation would add value to their discussions.

The Scrutiny Officer advised that he would gather together the comments made at this meeting and circulate them to the Members of the Task and Finish Group for their comments. The report would then be brought back to this Committee in July for consideration before being presented to Cabinet.

The Chairman invited the speakers to make final comments.

Mr Dartington stated that the reason that the public lost faith with the Churchgate Liaison Forum was that they had be presented with a planning brief that identified the areas to be developed and which had been consulted on, but following a period of silence those areas were expanded into areas that the public had specifically stated it did not want. It was therefore not the scheme that caused issued, but the approach.

The Strategic Director clarified that the Council did go to the market to seek a developer and the initial scheme from that developer showed development on the expanded sites. They then had to go through a process to get to a planning application however this never happened because when an explanation was presented as to why the smaller scheme was no longer a feasible option, they were shouted down. It may well have been that, if everyone had engaged with them, they may have reduced the scale of the proposal and when Simons made a presentation to Council they stated that they would reduce the scale.

The lesson to learn from this experience was that the consultation and engagement with the public regarding Churchgate did not work and in future need to be clear about the decisions made and then move on to the next stage. If this approach had been taken it was possible that the project would have come to fruition.

Councillor Billing commented that, even when the Town Centre Strategy was being developed the Chairman of Hitchin Committee was being bellowed at by large numbers of people, so it wasn't just at the time that the initial scheme was presented that things went wrong.

The Chairman thanked everyone for a full debate and confirmed that the comments of SMT regarding the Task and Finish Group's report would be available at the next meeting.

RESOLVED:

(1) That the Task and Finish Group on the Council's Management of Larger Projects be requested to consider the comments made by this Committee regarding the recommendation contained in the report paying particular attention to the following:

Recommendation 1

Members suggested that the recommendation be amended to reflect the need to move forward and the need to assess risks and recognise when a project should be stopped.

Recommendation 2

Members queried whether this recommendation applied to only one project and therefore should be clarified as such, or whether this was something that should be applied generally and maybe be re-worded.

As a point of clarification the recommendation should be to be clearer about its tender invitations and then put it out to tender.

Recommendation 9

It was suggested that the recommendation be amended to reflect that the Council should not embark on a project unless they were confident that proper and meaningful consultation had been undertaken, but it was important to continue to engage with the public at stages throughout project.

Recommendation 10

It was suggested that the recommendation be amended to ensure that use of the Competitive Dialogue Process was not excluded, but that it was used appropriately and not used on highly sensitive and visible projects.

(2) That the Task and Finish Group on the Council's Management of Larger projects be requested to consider whether the comments made and documents presented in public participation would add any value to their discussions.

REASON FOR DECISION: To enable the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider the Task and Finish Group on the Council's Management of Larger Projects report prior to consideration by Cabinet.

15 RESOLUTIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Members agreed that the detail included in this item should be considered at the next meeting.

In respect of future workings of the Committee, discussions were needed regarding how the Committee could more effectively track the resolutions and find out the reasons given for any that were not accepted. This could be by way of letter to the Executive Member or by questioning Heads of Service or Executive Members at a meeting.

There was a need for a process to close off the resolutions of Task and Finish Groups by asking what had been achieved and what lessons had been learnt for future Task and Finish Groups. Suggestions for achieving this were either by removing it from the list as no action would likely be taken or by questioning the Executive Members.

RESOLVED: That the actions resulting from the resolutions of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be noted.

REASON FOR DECISION: To enable the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to review and monitor the progress of resolutions made.

16 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME

The Chairman advised Members that the main consideration in this report was the findings of the workshop, attended by Members that considered how this Committee could scrutinise issues more effectively in the future.

The Scrutiny Officer presented the report entitled Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme and drew attention to the following:

Future methods of Scrutiny

The Committee had expressed a wish to have an earlier and more effective input into policy and an earlier awareness of potential problems and consideration had been given, over a period of time, as to how this could be achieved.

A workshop for Members of the Committee was held in April 2017 from which a number of options were identified and these were set out on Pages 91 and 92 of the report.

Any changes adopted by the Committee were not intended to be particularly onerous for officers, but aimed to get the Committee to understand more and enter the process earlier and this could be achieved in a number of ways as follows:

The Corporate Plan

There was a feeling that the current Corporate Plan did not reflect the activities of the Council in an effective way and needed to be re-drafted.

Service Plans

Some Service Plans had already been published, although some had yet to be so.

Each Service Plan had an action plan attached, which gave an outline of the things that the Council would be undertaking during the next Civic Year and this gave an opportunity for the Committee to identify projects, reviews and issues that were coming up and have an input at an early stage.

The Development and Building Control Plan identified an action to Develop a Strategic Approach to the Local Plan 2031 New Settlement and that this could be an opportunity to invite the Head of Development and Building Control to come to the Committee to share his thoughts and for the Committee to provide feedback and ideas.

The same document identified that the Council was considering the introduction of a Community Infrastructure Levy in December 2017 and this could be considered at later date.

The Communications Service Plan contained a project regarding Channel Shifting, which was about encouraging use of on-line methods of communications in order to reduce the amount of direct customer contact with the Customer Service Centre. This project was due to report in March 2017, but had been deferred to report in March 2018 and this may be a subject that the Committee would be interested in.

The Chairman stated that considering items identified in action plans could be less burdensome for Officers and would enable the Committee to have an input into the though processes before the project was developed.

If the Committee chose a new method of choosing issues to consider, tools such as the Forward Plan should continue to be used and not forgotten,

A Member commented that one of the challenges was to make sure that officers put their projects on the Forward Plan in good time.

Top Risks

The Scrutiny Officer advised that the Council's top risks and risk register were listed on Covalent, which was available to Members and it was notable how many projects were at Alert status.

Members Information Service

Information on projects was provided in MIS and this could be cross reference with other sources of information.

By reading this document, the Scrutiny Officer noted the inclusion of a timetable relating to the Waste Contract and upon investigation through other source he discovered that this project had been delayed, although there had been no mention of the delay in MIS. This project was also mentioned in the risk register, which identified that the late awarding of contracts could have consequences.

The Chairman advised that at this point they would hear the presentation by the Chief Executive, after which discussion regarding this agenda item would be continued.

Following the presentation by the Chief Executive, the Chairman gave the example of the Green Space Strategy, that had been included in the Service Plan for some time, yet the Committee had not identified it as an item to consider, which resulted in a Call-In with the consequent burden that this placed on the organisation, had this been identified at an earlier stage, the Committee could have added value by discussing consultation before any decisions was taken.

She queried how this may have been avoided by interrogating Service Plans.

The Chief Executive advised that the Chairman could have a briefing meeting with Heads of Service to ask them what was coming up and to discuss what issues the Committee were concerned about. This could identify issues not only for the current year, but over a longer period.

Approximately four years ago Overview and Scrutiny had a discussion item on their agenda regarding the Local Plan that had included what the scope of the Local Plan might look like, the sorts of issues that would have to be considered, what the implications might be and what was outside of the Council's control. This had been a successful discussion based item supported by a two page discussion paper, rather than the usual long and technical report.

The Chairman commented that being able to spend time considering one issue, as they had this evening with the Task and Finish Group report, had the potential to add more value and suggested that it would be valuable to hold an annual workshop to discuss with Heads of Service and Executive Members what actions the Committee could consider.

Members commented that it was important to engage with the wider public and not just the small numbers of the same people who commented on everything and it was important to find a way to achieve wider public engagement. It was also important to find ways that the wider public can voice their opinion and how this could be facilitated.

They considered that advertising the issues that were due to be discussed via social media may increase public participation and awareness of what the Council was doing and that other Member colleagues could be invited to take part in those discussions.

The Chief Executive suggested that the Committee may wish to consider how the Council communicates and engages with the public in the round and that this could be a piece of work undertaken over a period of time.

Members commented that more engagement did not necessarily increase confidence or happiness and that the Council had to be careful of raising expectations that because someone had engaged their opinion would be acted upon.

Members agreed that the proposed Task and Finish Group on Communication and Engagement should be brought forward.

In respect of possible discussion items Members considered that there was a danger, when considering items such as the Strategy for a New Settlement, that people think this would be happening in the near future.

Channel Shifting was extremely important as it proposed reducing face to face contact with the Council and increasing on-line contact, which could cause concern for residents.

In respect of the suggested delay with the Waste Contract members were advised that this was moving forward satisfactorily and that it was currently in the tendering stage. They felt that it would b difficult to add value to this subject and it may be that the process was hindered if the Committee were involved.

They agreed that the Strategy for a new settlement should be brought to the next meeting and Channel Shifting to a future meeting.

The Scrutiny Officer informed Members that the Corporate Plan, an update on Play Areas and the Task and Finish Group on Larger Projects would be considered at the next meeting.

RESOLVED:

- (1) That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme be noted;
- (2) That the Chairman, Chief Executive and Scrutiny Officer be requested to develop the outline for a workshop that would enable Members to identify issues and topics for discussion at future meetings of this Committee;
- (3) That the Scrutiny Officer be requested to produce a scope for a Task and Finish Group on Communication and Engagement and present this to the next meeting of this Committee:
- (4) That Head of Development and Building Control be requested to formulate a discussion paper regarding the Strategy for a New Settlement to be presented at the next meeting of this Committee:
- (5) That the Communications Manager and Customer Services Manager be requested to formulate a discussion paper regarding Channel Shifting and present it to this Committee on 19 September 2017.

REASON FOR DECISION: To enable the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to plan and carry out its workload efficiently and effectively.

The meeting closed at 10.37 pm

Chairman